
 

 
 
 

 
Agenda 
Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board 
 

Monday, 5 December 2022 at 6.00 pm 
at Council Chamber - Sandwell Council House, Oldbury 

 
  
1   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2   Declarations of Interest 

 
Members to declare any interests in matters to be 
discussed at the meeting. 
 

 

 
3   Additional Items of Business 

 
To determine whether there are any additional 
items of business which, by reason of special 
circumstances, the Chair decides should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 
 

 

 
4   Pre & Post Dementia Diagnostic Support 

 
To consider and comment on the Pre & Post 
Dementia Diagnostic Support Report. 
 

5 - 14 

 
Kim Bromley-Derry CBE DL 
Managing Director Commissioner 
Sandwell Council House 
Freeth Street 
Oldbury 
West Midlands 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

Distribution 
Councillor E M Giles (Chair) 
Councillors H Bhullar, Akpoteni, Allcock, Choudhry, E A Giles, S Gill, Fisher, 
Melia, Randhawa and V Smith 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 2

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 
Information about meetings in Sandwell 
 

 
 

If you are attending the meeting and require assistance to 
access the venue, please contact Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk). 
 

 
 

If the fire alarm sounds, please follow the instructions of the 
officers present and leave the building by the nearest exit. 
 

 
 

Only people invited to speak at a meeting may do so.  
Everyone at the meeting is expected to be respectful and listen 
to the discussion. 

 
 

Agendas with reports with exempt information should be 
treated as private and confidential.  It is your responsibility to 
ensure that any such reports are kept secure.  After the 
meeting confidential papers should be disposed of in a secure 
way. 
 

 
 

This meeting may be recorded and broadcast on the Internet.  
If this is the case, it will be confirmed at the meeting and 
further information will be provided.  
 
 

 
 

You are allowed to use devices for the purposes of recording 
or reporting during the public session of the meeting.  When 
using your devices they must not disrupt the meeting – please 
ensure they are set to silent. 
 

 
 

Members who cannot attend the meeting should submit 
apologies by contacting Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk) 
 

Page 3

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 

All agenda, reports, minutes for Sandwell Council’s meetings, 
councillor details and more are available from our website 

 

Page 4

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

 
 
Report to Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
Board 
 
 

Monday 5th December 2022 
 
Subject: Pre-& Post Dementia Diagnostic Support 
Director: Director Adult Social Care 

Rashpal Bishop 
Contact Officer: Senior Commissioning Manger, Maxine Groves 

Maxine_groves@sandwell.gov.uk  
 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Board considers and comments on the Pre & Post Dementia 

Diagnostic Support Report. 
 

1.2 That any recommendations are reported to Cabinet at its meeting on 7 
December for consideration. 

 
2 Reasons for Recommendations to Cabinet 
 
2.1 The business case to deliver Sandwell “Better Lives Strategy 2019 – 

2024” within the available budget was agreed by the Joint Partnership 
Board in July 2020 and authorised by Cabinet in October 2020.   The 
strategy provided the mandate to commission a pre and post diagnostic 
support service based on a lead provider collaborative approach.  
 

2.2 A formal tender process was undertaken from April 2021 resulting in a 
contract being awarded to Sandwell Crossroads in July 2021 with the 
service going live in August 2021.  In December 2021 Sandwell 
Crossroads informed the Council of its intention to hand back the 
contract in December 2021, constituting a breach of that contract. In 
February 2022 Cabinet approved a direct award for a period of twelve 
months with a possible three month extension period. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Maxine_groves@sandwell.gov.uk


 

2.3 A partnership of local dementia providers nominated a new lead provider 
Murray Hall pursuant to a due diligence process which enabled the 
Council to direct award a new contract for the service.   
 

2.4 The service transferred to Murray Hall on 29th June 2022 and will 
terminate on 28 June 2023 or 28 September 2023 if the extension is 
required.  

 
2.5 To ensure continuity of service and retention of a skilled workforce 

following the conclusion of this contract a formal competitive process 
needs to be undertaken. 

 
2.6 The Sandwell community dementia support service and pathway is 

viewed as the national gold standard. The model has been evidenced in 
the Department of Health and Social Care’s new 10-year dementia plan 
which is awaiting publication. The model was showcased at the 
Alzheimer’s Society national conference in May 2022 and will be 
presented at the Kings Fund National Conference and the National 
Dementia Congress in November 2022.   

 
2.7 To ensure continued access to this valued service for local people living 

with the effects of dementia  and provide stability for the service it is 
recommended that contract length should be for two years with the 
option to extend for a further year.  

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

People live well and age well 
 
“Sandwell is a place where we live healthy lives and live 
them for longer, and where those of us who are vulnerable 
feel respected and cared for.” 
The Service will continue to deliver the following benefits for 
adults in Sandwell by helping to: - 

• Improve health, well-being and confidence, 
supporting people to live longer within their 
communities with a good quality of life. 

• Enable people to contribute more to local 
community life 

• Support people to maintaining their 
independence at home 

Page 6



 

• Strengthen social networks 
• Reduce social isolation 
• Improve resilience for individuals and 

communities 
 

 

Strong resilient communities 
 
The Service will continue to work in partnership with the 
Council, NHS and voluntary and community sector partners 
to ensure that our most vulnerable citizens feel safe, 
protected and supported at home and in the community. 
Making best use of community assets 
 

 

A strong and inclusive economy 
“Sandwell has a national reputation for getting things done, 
where all local partners are focused on what really matters in 
people’s lives and communities.” 
The Service model and pathway has been held up nationally 
by NHSE as the gold standard for pre and post dementia 
diagnostic support.  
The Service will continue to enhance and improve the 
reputation of Sandwell as a regional and national leader in 
promoting the wellbeing and independence of its vulnerable 
citizens, helping people to have choice and control, live well 
and reduce the risk of crisis. 
 

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 Dementia presents a significant and urgent challenge to health and 

social care both in terms of the number of people affected and the cost 
of care. It is also a major personal challenge to anyone experiencing 
symptoms of dementia and to families and carers of people living with 
dementia. The limited availability of local high quality pre and post-
diagnosis support services increases the risk of vulnerable people 
entering crisis. In turn this results in poorer outcomes for people living 
with dementia and their families and increased costs for health and 
social care. 

 
4.2  The evidence supports early diagnosis and intervention as a means of 

improving quality of life and delaying or avoiding admission to hospital or 

Page 7



 

care homes.1 The benefits of this approach set out in the National 
Dementia Strategy 20092 include: 

 
• Reduction in care home placements of up to 28% by providing carer 

support and counselling at diagnosis. 
• Reduction in hospital admissions.  
• Improvement in the quality of life for people with dementia following early 

diagnosis and intervention.  Enabling them to feel confident to live well in 
their own communities.  

• Positive effects on the quality of life of family and carers following early 
diagnosis and intervention, enabling them to feel supported and to live 
well in their own communities.                                                                                                                                                                                          

 
Commissioning Intentions  
 
4.3    Evidence suggests that programmes of this type can reduce future cost 

pressures resulting from demographic growth of our ageing population. 
The evidence is very clear about the positive impact on individuals’ well-
being, enabling them to continue to live well within their local 
communities. 

 
4.4     
4.5    The tender time line and activity align with the necessary procurement 

processes and requirements, ensuring that the new service will go live in 
September 2023. 

 
Service Model 
 
4.6    The new service will be available for those with a memory concern as 

well as those living with the effects of dementia, including carers, and will 
provide: 

 
• Access seven days per week from 8am possibly until 10pm [to be 

finalised prior to tender being published in February 2023]  
• A single point of access 
• Information, advice (including benefits advice) and signposting to other 

services, e.g. the Community Offer 
• Care and advanced care planning 

                                      
1 https://www.clahrc-cp.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/RU_2-Screening-for-dementia-
Final4Oct121.pdf 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-well-with-dementia-a-national-dementia-strategy 

Page 8



 

• Initial screening and safe and well at home checks on behalf of Primary 
Care 

• A regularly maintained and updated Sandwell Dementia Roadmap. 
• Appropriate training for people with memory concerns, and those living 

with the effects of dementia to meet identified needs. This will also 
include carers and professionals. 

 
4.7    The referral pathways are inclusive to all with a Sandwell post code. This 

includes carers who may not have a Sandwell post code but care for a 
person who does.   

 
Consultation 
 
4.8    The Better Care Fund Programme team carried out an extensive 

programme of engagement with a wide range of stakeholders during 
2019 to support the development of the dementia strategy. A variety of 
approaches to maximise reach were implemented, resulting in the 
strategy having a comprehensive delivery plan. Please see Appendix 1. 
 

 
5 Alternative Options 
 
5.1      

 
5 Implications 
 
Resources: The service will be fully funded from the Better Care 

Fund.  However, this funding is dependent upon the 
continued availability of iBCF (improved BCF) funding 
grant or its future equivalent from the national Better 
Care Fund programme. This is a risk that has been 
identified in the Council’s strategic risk register which 
is currently assessed as red. The annual cost will be 
£376K exclusive of VAT with a total cost for the 
service of £1,128,000 exclusive of VAT over the three 
-year period.  
 
Following the conclusion of Brexit, high-value notices 
from the UK are no longer advertised on the OJEU 
and will instead be advertised on Contracts Finder 
and Find a Tender Service to ensure compliance with 
the Public Contract Regulations 2015.    

Page 9



 

 
There are no implications for council managed 
property or land. 
 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The proposed Competitive Tender Process will 
comply fully with the Council’s contract and 
procurement requirements. 

 
The service will be funded from the Sandwell Better 
Care Fund. The proposed use of these funds to 
finance the service is entirely consistent with the 
national conditions for the use of BCF and improved 
BCF (iBCF) funding.   
 
Data used, stored and transferred as part of the 
delivery of the new service will comply with all current 
data protection legislation, regulations and Council 
policies and procedures. 
 

Risk: The new service will build strong links with the local 
communities, working effectively with the Police, NHS 
and Voluntary and Community Sector organisations, 
and will ensure that the Sandwell Safeguarding Adults 
Board priorities and practice standards are promoted 
and followed. 
 
The Corporate Risk Management Strategy has been 
complied with throughout in identifying and assessing 
the significant risks associated with this proposal.  An 
initial risk register has been produced with no 
strategic risks identified and minimal project risks.  
 
If approved, the recommendations in this report will 
contribute to the mitigation of the directorate risk in 
respect of Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) which is 
currently assessed as green (Performance with 
acceptable parameters) and was previously included 
in the strategic risk register.  The risk register will be 
monitored and refreshed on a quarterly basis. 
 

Page 10



 

Equality: An Equality Impact Assessment screening exercise 
has been carried out for the new service and a full 
Equality Impact Assessment was not considered to be 
required on the basis that all delivery partners will 
need to demonstrate compliance with the Equalities 
Act 2010 before they are awarded funding to deliver 
services.  The new service is expected to have a 
positive impact on the local community and Lead 
Providers will be required by commissioners to ensure 
equal access to services for people and communities 
with protected characteristics. 
 

  

Page 11



 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

Benefits to service users and community: 
 

• Reduced social isolation and increased 
community connectedness 

• Preventing or delaying the need for 
admission into hospital 

• Supporting people to return home to live 
as independently as possible 

• Flexible person-centered services 
enabling people to have choice and 
control while continuing to live full and 
active lives within their communities for 
longer 

• Improved mental health and well-being  
• Income maximisation 
• Increased carer support 
• Community cohesion 
• Supporting community resilience 
• Improved mental health and well-being 

services 
 
Benefits to the Council: 

 
• Collaborative multi-agency partnership 

working 
• Increasing the number of people 

supported to live well and independently at 
home within their community and reducing 
admissions into hospital and care homes 

• Improved high quality, person centered 
support  

 
Social Value: The service specification requires a collaboration of 

provider organisations to deliver services in each of 
Sandwell six towns.  
 
The service will provide employment opportunities 
and local volunteers will be recruited to support the 
service, including young people. 
 

Page 12



 

The service will make best use of existing community 
assets. 

Climate 
Change: 

Work has been undertaken with the existing provider 
to implement practices which reduces the service 
carbon foot print. An example of this work is the 
modes of transport used when IT solutions are 
inappropriate and face to face contact is required, 
public transport and push bikes.  
 

 
 
6 Appendices 

 Appendix 1: Feedback Report 
Dementia 

feedback_final 2019.p  
 
7. Background Papers 
 
 Please see previous Cabinet reports of 14 October 2020 and 9 February   

2022 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Pre & Post Dementia Diagnostic Support
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations to Cabinet
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Alternative Options
	5 Implications
	6 Appendices
	7. Background Papers


